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September 18, 2025 

The Board of Directors 
California State University Channel Islands Site Authority 

Dear Members of the Board of Directors: 

We have audited the financial statements of California State University Channel Islands Site Authority 
("Site Authority"), a component unit of California State University, Channel Islands, as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2025, and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2025. Professional 
standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 

As communicated in our engagement letter dated March 6, 2025, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that 
have been prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve you or management of its respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of California State 
University Channel Islands Site Authority, solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and 
not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control. 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit  

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to 
you. 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and our network firms have complied 
with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.  

Significant Risks Identified 

During the normal course of our audit planning and preliminary risk assessment, we have identified the 
following significant risks: management override of controls and improper revenue recognition. We 
addressed these risks through substantive audit procedures. No additional significant risks were identified 
that required specific audit consideration. 

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity's Significant Accounting Practices 
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Significant Accounting Policies 

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by California State University Channel Islands Site Authority is 
included in Note 2 to the financial statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies 
and no changes in significant accounting policies or their application during 2025. No matters have come 
to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods 
used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in 
controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

Significant Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures 

Accounting estimates and related disclosures are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are based on management's current judgments. Those judgments are normally based 
on knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. 
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from 
management's current judgments. 

Financial Statement Disclosures  

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive 
because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting Site 
Authority's financial statements relate to: capital assets, leases, and obligations under public-public 
partnerships. 

Significant Unusual Transactions 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to communicate to you significant 
unusual transactions identified during our audit. No significant unusual transactions identified as a result 
of our audit procedures. 

Identified or Suspected Fraud  

We have identified or have obtained no information that indicates that fraud may have occurred. 

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the 
audit. 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements  

For purposes of this communication, professional standards also require us to accumulate all known and 
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and 
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us 
to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant 
classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. There 
were no material uncorrected misstatements. 

In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected 
misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. The 
were no material corrected misstatements. 
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Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, which could be significant to California State University Channel Islands Site Authority's financial 
statements or the auditor's report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor's Report  

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that 
affect the form and content of our auditor's report. There were no circumstances affecting the form and 
content of the audit opinion. 

Representations Requested from Management 

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the attached 
letter dated September 18, 2025. 

Management's Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 

Other Significant Matters, Findings or Issues 

In the normal course of our professional association with California State University Channel Islands Site 
Authority we generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, significant events or transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions 
affecting the entity, and operating plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. 
None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as California State University 
Channel Islands Site Authority auditors. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of those charged with governance, the Audit 
Committee, Board of Directors, management, others within Site Authority, and is not intended to be and 
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

 
 
 

CohnReznick LLP 
Los Angeles, California 
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Independent Auditor's Report  

To the Board of Directors  
California State University, Channel Islands Site Authority 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of California State University, Channel Islands Site Authority 
(the "Site Authority"), a component unit of California State University, Channel Islands as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the Site Authority's basic financial statements as listed in the index.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Site Authority as of June 30, 2025, and the changes in its financial position and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America ("GAAS") and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Site Authority and to meet our other 
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Site Authority's ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statements date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Site Authority's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion 
is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Site Authority's ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis on pages 6 to 10 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Site Authority's basic financial statements. The accompanying supplementary information 
on pages 34 to 47 is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by an Administrative 
Directive dated June 24, 2003, Financial Reporting Requirements for Auxiliary Organizations, from the 
California State University Office of the Chancellor, and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 

The accompanying supplementary information on pages 34 to 47 is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In 
our opinion, the accompanying supplementary information on pages 34 to 47 is fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

We have previously audited the Site Authority's June 30, 2024 financial statements, and we expressed 
an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated September 17, 
2024. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2024 is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from 
which it has been derived. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 
18, 2025 on our consideration of the Site Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Site Authority's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the Site Authority's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
 
 
Los Angeles, California 
September 18, 2025 
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This section of California State University, Channel Islands Site Authority (the "Site Authority") annual 
financial report presents our discussion and analysis of the financial performance of the Site Authority for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. This discussion has been prepared by management and should be 
read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes. 

Introduction to the Financial Statements 

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statements No. 34, Basic Financial Statements - 
and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments, No. 35, Basic Financial 
Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for Public Colleges and Universities, No. 37, 
Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local 
Governments: Omnibus, and No. 38, Certain Financial Statements Note Disclosures. For reporting 
purposes, the Site Authority is considered a special-purpose government engaged only in business-type 
activities which best represent the activities of the Site Authority. 

The financial statements include the statement of net position; the statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position; and the statement of cash flows. These statements are supported by the notes 
to the financial statements and this section. All sections must be considered together to obtain a complete 
understanding of the financial picture of the Site Authority. 

Statement of Net Position 

The statement of net position includes all assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities are reported at their 
book value, on an accrual basis, as of the statement date. It also identifies major categories of restrictions 
on the net position of the Site Authority. 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents the revenues earned and 
expenses incurred during the year on an accrual basis. 

Statement of Cash Flows 

The statement of cash flows presents the inflows and outflows of cash for the year and is summarized 
by operating, noncapital financing, capital and related financing, and investing activities. The statement 
is prepared using the direct method of cash flows and, therefore, presents gross rather than net amounts 
for the year's activities. 

Analytical Overview 

Summary 

The following discussion highlights management's understanding of the key financial aspects of the Site 
Authority's financial activities. Included are an analysis of current year activities and balances, and a 
summary of operations. 
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The Site Authority's summary of net position as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows: 

2025 2024 $ Change % Change
Assets:
Current assets 9,332,504$         5,748,028$         3,584,476$         62.4%
Capital assets, net 29,854,916         32,298,683         (2,443,767)         -7.6%
Other noncurrent assets 17,194,834         15,944,776         1,250,058          7.8%

Total assets 56,382,254         53,991,487         2,390,767          4.4%

Deferred outflows of resources:
Refunding of debt 4,173,925          4,639,775          (465,850)            -10.0%

Total deferred outflows of resources 4,173,925          4,639,775          (465,850)            -10.0%

Liabilities:
Current liabilities 6,463,387          5,716,718          746,669             13.1%
Other noncurrent liabilities 73,245,250         78,822,655         (5,577,405)         -7.1%

Total liabilities 79,708,637         84,539,373         (4,830,736)         -5.7%

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets (1,557,228)         (1,276,259)         (280,969)            22.0%
Restricted for:

Capital projects 6,567,956          6,640,356          (72,400)              -1.1%
Debt service 3,330,000          3,330,000          -                    0.0%
Economic uncertainty 1,520,400          1,448,000          72,400.00          5.0%
Maintenance reserves 5,776,478          4,526,420          1,250,058          27.6%

Unrestricted (34,790,064)        (40,576,628)        5,786,564          -14.3%

Total net position (19,152,458)$      (25,908,111)$      6,755,653$         -26.1%

 
Assets 

Total assets increased by $2.4 million compared to the prior year. Total current assets increased by $3.6 
million primarily due to an increase of $3.2 million related to the Anacapa development build-out, $800 
thousand University Glen operations, $1.7 million from DWR/CI Power Operations and a decrease of 
$600 thousand in other operations, offset by a $1.5 million decline in receivables. The capital assets 
decreased by $2.4 million due to depreciation of the assets. Other non-current assets are comprised of 
restricted cash and long-term investments which increased by $1.2 million primarily due to an increase 
in operating and non-operating income as well as investment gains. 
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Liabilities 

Total liabilities decreased by $4.8 million, or 5.7%, compared to the prior year. The $750 thousand 
increase in current liabilities is primarily due to a $915 thousand increase in the principal payment on the 
Broome Library Debt, offset primarily by decreases in accrued expenses of $60 thousand and accrued 
interest payable of $107 thousand, largely driven by the scheduled reduction of the infrastructure lease 
liability. Noncurrent liabilities decreased by $5.5 million, mainly reflecting the continued paydown of long-
term obligations.  This includes a $2 million reduction in the PPP liability related to infrastructure and a 
$3.3 million decrease in debt associated with the Broome Library. 

Net Position  

Total net position increased by $6.8 million due to operating income of $2 million and nonoperating 
income of $4.8 million. The net investment in capital assets decreased by $281 thousand due to a 
decrease in capital assets, less lease liability and PPP liability. There is an increase of $1.2 million in 
maintenance reserves which consists of $893 thousand from University Glen CAM and $356 thousand 
from Anacapa CAM. The unrestricted increase of $5.8 million is significantly due to net income received 
primarily from energy sales from CI Power and sublease rent from Anacapa Canyon home sales and 
apartment rent. 
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The Site Authority's condensed summary of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position for the 
years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, is as follows: 

2025 2024 $ Change % Change
Operating revenues:
Energy sales 3,106,194$         2,877,674$         228,520$           7.9%
Maintenance rent 3,269,581          2,841,649          427,932             15.1%
Sublease rent 2,967,175          3,069,228          (102,053)            -3.3%
Other income 128,471             59,215               69,256               117.0%

Total operating revenues 9,471,421          8,847,766          623,655             7.0%

Operating expenses:
Cost of energy sales 1,809,300          1,713,523          95,777               5.6%
Depreciation and amortization 2,443,767          2,443,765          2                       0.0%
Other operating expenses 3,244,099          3,155,200          88,899               2.8%

Total operating expenses 7,497,166          7,312,488          184,678             2.5%

Operating income (loss) 1,974,255          1,535,278          438,977             28.6%

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest, net (1,791,395)         (2,086,751)         295,356             -14.2%
Taxes 3,171,515          2,536,073          635,442             25.1%
Other  914,595             1,013,269          (98,674)              -9.7%
Contributions for debt service 2,486,683          2,525,733          (39,050)              -1.5%

Nonoperating revenues (expenses), net 4,781,398          3,988,324          793,074             19.9%

Increase in net position 6,755,653          5,523,602          1,232,051          22.3%

Beginning net position (25,908,111)        (31,431,713)        5,523,602          -17.6%

Ending net position (19,152,458)$      (25,908,111)$      6,755,653$         -26.1%

 
Operating Revenues and Expenses 

Operating revenues and expenses come from sources that are connected directly to the Site Authority 
business function. Revenue sources are primarily from energy sales, sublease rent, common area 
maintenance revenue and home sales. Expenses include cost of energy sales, depreciation and 
amortization, and other expenses. 

The operating revenues increased by $624 thousand, a 7.0% increase from the prior year. Energy sales 
increased by $228 thousand, maintenance rent rose by $428 thousand driven by Anacapa Canyon being 
fully occupied, $69 thousand in other income, and a decrease of $102 thousand in sublease rent.  

Total operating expenses increased by $185 thousand, a 2.5% increase from the prior year. The increase 
is due to a $96 thousand increase in the cost of energy sales and $89 thousand in administrative 
expenses. 
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Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 

Total nonoperating revenues increased $793 thousand, a 19.9% increase from the prior year. The 
increase is primarily due to a decrease in interest expense and $635 thousand increase in net property 
and sales taxes collected. This is offset by a decrease in other non-operating revenue by $99 thousand 
and a decrease of $36 thousand in contributions to debt service.
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2025 2024

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7,762,239$        2,574,944$        
Accounts receivable 1,361,295          2,880,268
Related party receivables 129,114             249,145
Due from CSUCI Financing Authority - restricted 41,264               15,429
Other assets 38,592               28,242               

Total current assets 9,332,504          5,748,028          

Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash 4,918,521 4,875,903          
Restricted investments 12,276,313        11,068,873        
Capital assets, net 29,854,916        32,298,683

Total noncurrent assets 47,049,750        48,243,459

Total assets 56,382,254$      53,991,487$      

Deferred outflows of resources
Refunding of debt 4,173,925$        4,639,775$        

Total deferred outflows of resources 4,173,925$        4,639,775$        

Assets
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2025 2024

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 528,102$           618,063$           
Interest payable to CSU
Systemwide Revenue Bond Program 309,147             416,185
Unearned revenue 14,706               31,080
Related party payables 128,362             148,221
Lease obligations, current portion 188,282             179,154             
Obligations under public-public partnerships, current portion 1,959,788          1,904,015
Loans payable - current portion 3,335,000          2,420,000

Total current liabilities 6,463,387          5,716,718          

Noncurrent liabilities
Lease obligations, net of current portion 300,563             488,846
Obligations under public-public partnerships, net of current 
portion 28,963,511        31,002,927
Unearned revenue, net of current portion 1,066,176          1,080,882
Loans payable, net of current portion 42,915,000        46,250,000

Total noncurrent liabilities 73,245,250        78,822,655        

Total liabilities 79,708,637        84,539,373        

Net position (deficit)
Net investment in capital assets (1,557,228)         (1,276,259)         
Restricted for

Capital projects 6,567,956          6,640,356          
Debt service 3,330,000          3,330,000
Economic uncertainty 1,520,400          1,448,000
Maintenance reserves 5,776,478          4,526,420          

Unrestricted (34,790,064)       (40,576,628)       

Total net deficit (19,152,458)$     (25,908,111)$     

Liabilities and Net Position
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2025 2024
Operating revenues

Energy sales 3,106,194$        2,877,674$        
Maintenance rent 3,269,581          2,841,649
Sublease rent 2,967,175          3,069,228
Home sales 75,913               46,475
Miscellaneous revenues 52,558               12,740               

Total operating revenues 9,471,421          8,847,766          

Operating expenses
Cost of energy sales 1,809,300          1,713,523
Depreciation and amortization 2,443,767          2,443,765
General, administrative and other operating costs 3,244,099 3,155,200

Total operating expenses 7,497,166          7,312,488          

Operating income 1,974,255          1,535,278          

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Interest, net (923,044)            (1,172,827)         
Property taxes 3,409,863          2,507,222          
Property tax pass through expense (1,089,947)         (793,552)            
Contributions for debt service from CSU Chancellor's Office 2,486,683          2,525,733          
Interest on loan payable to CSU Channel Islands (868,351)            (913,924)            
Special taxes 851,599             822,403             
Investment gain 814,960             362,004             
Other revenues 99,635               651,265             

Total nonoperating revenues, net 4,781,398          3,988,324          

Change in net position 6,755,653          5,523,602          

Net deficit, beginning of year (25,908,111)       (31,431,713)       

Net deficit, end of year (19,152,458)$     (25,908,111)$     
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2025 2024
Cash flows from operating activities

Home sales 75,913$             46,475$             
Energy sales 3,751,177          2,666,221          
Sublease rent 4,005,947          1,770,520          
Miscellaneous revenues (expenses) 172,589             (120,186)            
Payments to vendors (5,158,598)         (5,523,317)         
Maintenance rent 3,058,746          2,717,622          

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,905,774          1,557,335          

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Property and sales taxes 4,235,627          3,333,099          
Property tax pass through paid (1,089,947)         (793,552)            

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 3,145,680          2,539,547          

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Payments on loans payable (250,000)            (245,000)            
Interest paid on loans payable (103,606)            (95,130)              
Capital asset disposal 99,635               -                     
PPP payment (1,983,643)         (1,756,926)         
PPP interest payments (986,594)            (1,130,355)         
Lease payment (179,155)            (170,471)            
Lease interest payments (25,698)              (37,900)              

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (3,429,061)         (3,435,782)         

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of investments (1,068,575)         (8,331,836)         
Investment income, net 676,095             362,004             
Proceeds from insurance -                     91,672               

Net cash used in investing activities (392,480)            (7,878,160)         

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,229,913          (7,217,060)         

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,450,847          14,667,907        

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12,680,760$      7,450,847$        

Summary of cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Cash and cash equivalents 7,762,239$        2,574,944$        
Restricted cash 4,918,521          4,875,903          

Total cash and cash equivalents 12,680,760$      7,450,847$        
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2025 2024  
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided 
by operating activities

Operating income (loss) 1,974,255$        1,535,278$        
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash 
provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 2,443,767          2,443,765
Change in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 1,518,971          (837,525)            
Related party receivables 120,031             (128,001)            
Other assets (10,350)              (894)                   
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (89,961)              (595,768)            
Unearned revenue (31,080)              (5,172)                
Reserve held for CAM -                     (98,234)              
Related party payables (19,859)              (756,114)            

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,905,774$        1,557,335$        

Supplemental disclosure of noncash capital and related 
financing activities

Contribution of debt service payment from CSU Chancellor's 
Office 2,170,000$        2,155,000$        

Contribution of interest payment from CSU Chancellor's Office 782,533$           836,583$           

Amortization of loss on refunding 465,850$           465,850$           

Loss on disposal of capital asset recorded in nonoperating 
other revenue -$                   6,473$               

Receivables recorded in nonoperating other revenue -$                   644,681$           
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Note 1 - Organization  

The California State University, Channel Islands Site Authority (the "Site Authority") was formed on 
September 28, 1998 for the purpose of providing a specific reuse plan that will finance and support 
the transition of the property previously known as the Camarillo State Hospital (the "Property") from 
its former use to the California State University campus and other compatible uses. The Site Authority 
is governed by a board of seven members comprising four representatives of the Trustees of the 
California State University and three representatives from the County of Ventura.  

The Property comprises two major sectors: the West Campus and East Campus. The West Campus 
consists of developed space on 42 acres of what was formerly the Camarillo State Hospital. This 
portion of the Campus is centered on academic uses and houses the California State University, 
Channel Islands (the "Campus" or "University"). The East Campus comprises 162 acres of 
developable land, originally expected to contain 900 residential units and approximately 31,000 
square feet of retail commercial uses; however, in July 2017, the Trustees adopted a revised Master 
Plan that increases the density to 1,189 units. To date, 1,189 units are completed. 

The Site Authority is an integral part of the California State University, Channel Islands ("CSUCI"), 
and the financial transactions of the Site Authority are also included in the financial statements of the 
CSUCI as a discretely presented component unit.  

Note 2 - Summary of significant accounting policies  

Basis of presentation 
The accompanying financial statements for the Site Authority have been prepared using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
("GASB"). Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  

The financial statements include a statement of net position, a statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position, and a statement of cash flows. The Site Authority is considered a special-
purpose government under the provisions of GASB Statement No. 34. The Site Authority records 
revenue primarily from housing sales, apartment rentals, and tax increment revenues and, 
accordingly, has chosen to present its financial statements using the reporting model for special-
purpose governments. This model allows all financial information for the Site Authority to be reported 
in a single column in each of the financial statements. In accordance with the business-type activities 
reporting model, the Site Authority prepares its statement of cash flows using the direct method.  

Election of applicable FASB statements 
The Site Authority has elected to follow private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting 
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") prior to November 30, 1989, unless 
those standards conflict with or contradict guidance of the GASB. The Site Authority also has the 
option of following subsequent private-sector guidance subject to the same limitation. The Site 
Authority has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance. 
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Financial reporting entity 
The financial statements include the accounts of the Site Authority. The Site Authority is a government 
organization under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and is 
also a component unit of the Campus, a public university under the California State University system. 
The Site Authority has chosen to use the reporting model for special-purpose governments that 
engage only in business-type activities. 

Classification of current and noncurrent assets and liabilities 
The Site Authority considers assets to be current that can reasonably be expected, as part of its 
normal business operations, to be converted to cash and be available for liquidation of current 
liabilities within 12 months of the statement of net position date. Liabilities that reasonably can be 
expected, as part of normal business operations, to be liquidated within 12 months of the statement 
of net position date are considered to be current. All other assets and liabilities are considered to be 
noncurrent. 

Net position  
The Site Authority's net position is classified into the following net position categories: 

Net investment in capital assets - Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, amortization, 
and outstanding principal balances of debt and lease liabilities attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of those assets. 

Restricted - Net position subject to externally imposed conditions that can be fulfilled by the 
actions of the Site Authority or the passage of time. 

Unrestricted - All other categories of net position. In addition, unrestricted net position may be 
designated for use by the Site Authority. 

The Site Authority has adopted a policy of utilizing restricted funds, when available, prior to 
unrestricted funds. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include all highly-liquid debt 
instruments with a maturity of three months or less from date of purchase. The Site Authority 
maintains its cash and cash equivalents in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally 
insured limits. The Site Authority has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is 
not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash. 

Investments 
Investments in marketable securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt 
securities are reported at their fair values in the statement of net position. Unrealized gains and losses 
are included in the change in net position in the accompanying statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position. All investments are restricted.  

Accounts receivable 
Receivables consist of related party receivables and other miscellaneous receivables. The Site 
Authority uses the allowance method of accounting for receivables determined to be potentially 
uncollectable. In management's opinion, all receivables were collectible at year-end and, therefore, 
no allowance has been established.  
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Capital assets  
Capital assets are stated at cost and are capitalized over $5,000, and depreciation is calculated using 
the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of the respective assets:  

Infrastructure 40 years
Buildings and building improvements 30 years
Improvements other than buildings 10 years
Equipment 5 years

 
Capital assets are reviewed for impairment when a significant change in the asset's use or another 
indicator of possible impairment is present. No impairment losses were recognized in the financial 
statements in the current period. 

Revenue recognition 
Revenues from home sales are recognized as homes are sold, title passes, and escrow closes. 
Rental revenues are recognized as amounts are earned and coincide with the lease agreement. 
Maintenance rent is recognized monthly upon receipt from homeowners and retail tenants. Tax 
increment revenues are recognized when the taxes are levied and sales tax revenues are recognized 
upon receipt. Energy sales are recognized as energy is provided to customers. 

Classification of revenues and expenses 
The Site Authority considers operating revenues and expenses in the statement of revenues, 
expenses and changes in net position to be those revenues and expenses that result from exchange 
transactions or other activities that are connected directly to the Site Authority's primary functions. 
Exchange transactions include charges for services rendered and the acquisition of goods and 
services. Certain other transactions are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses in 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements and Management's Discussion 
and Analysis - for Public Colleges and Universities - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 34. 
These nonoperating activities include the Site Authority's net investment income and interest 
expense, collection of tax increment and sales tax revenues, which are reported as nonoperating 
revenues and expenses. Certain other transactions are reported as nonoperating activities and 
primarily include pass-through agency taxes, contribution for debt service, and transfers between the 
Site Authority and the CSUCI Financing Authority and other California State University ("CSU") funds. 

Maintenance reserves 
Maintenance reserve activities are based on the various ground subleases, and retail leases reserve 
payments come from three sources: (1) homeowners, (2) leased units, and (3) retail tenants. Reserve 
contribution amounts are determined after review of the reserve study conducted by an outside firm 
every two to three years. Reserve expenditures consist of maintenance expense and major repairs, 
which extend the life of an asset. Some examples include street repairs, roof replacement, and major 
repairs to the exteriors of townhomes and rental properties. 

Income taxes 
The Site Authority was formed pursuant to Articles 1 - 4, Chapter 5, Division 7, Title 1 of the 
Government Code of the State of California and, as a governmental entity, is not subject to federal or 
state income taxes. 
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Property taxes 
All jurisdictions within California derive their taxing authority from the State Constitution and various 
legislative provisions contained in the State Government Codes and Revenue and Taxation Codes. 
Property is originally assessed at 100% of full cash or market value at the date of transfer or 
completion of construction pursuant to Article XIII(A) of the California State Constitution and statutory 
provisions by the County Assessor and State Board of Equalization. 

Pursuant to the Community Development Area Specific Reuse Plan adopted June 5, 2000, the Site 
Authority is permitted to collect a maximum of $250,000,000 of tax increment revenues. Tax 
increment revenues are derived from property taxes that result from increases in assessed property 
values. The Site Authority is required to deposit 20% of the tax increment revenues into a Low- and 
Moderate-Income Housing Fund to provide affordable housing for households with moderate and 
low-incomes. The tax increment revenues required to be deposited in the Low- and Moderate-Income 
Housing Fund may be pledged to repay that portion of the capitalized lease obligation to Systemwide 
Revenue Bonds ("SRB") related to infrastructure construction financing, and accordingly, all of the 
tax increment revenues are pledged to repay this portion of the capitalized lease. 

Property taxes are levied on both real and personal property. The County Assessor levies taxes on 
all property developed by the Site Authority, including rental units. Secured property taxes become a 
lien on the Property on January 1 or the date on which title to the Property transfers or improvements 
to the Property are completed. Secured property taxes are levied on July 1 and are payable in two 
equal installments; the first payment is generally due on November 1 and delinquent with penalties 
after December 10; the second payment is generally due on February 1 and delinquent with penalties 
after April 10. Tax increment revenues are recognized in the period in which they are levied, net of 
amounts determined to be uncollectible.  

Supplemental property tax assessments/refunds associated with changes in assessed valuations due 
to transfers of title and completed property improvements are levied in two equal installments and 
have variable due dates based on the date of title transfer and/or completion of the Property 
improvements. 

Use of estimates 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions. Those estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses, as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. Management also determines the accounting principles to be used 
in the preparation of the financial statements.   

Fair value measurements 
The Site Authority reports its fair value measurements using a three-level hierarchy that prioritizes 
the inputs used to measure fair value in accordance with GASB 72, Fair Value Measurement and 
Application. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction in the principal or most advantageous market at the measurement date under 
current market conditions regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. Inputs used to determine fair value refer broadly to the assumptions that 
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk. Inputs 
may be observable or unobservable. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptions market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources 
independent of the reporting entity. 
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Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions about the 
assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best 
information available. GASB 72 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to 
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. This hierarchy, established by Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles, requires that entities maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the 
use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. 

The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows: 

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement 
date for identical assets or liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority 
to Level 1 inputs.  

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities; quoted prices in inactive markets; or model-derived valuations in which all 
significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally from or corroborated with 
observable market data.  

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value 
hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. 

When available, the Site Authority measures fair value using Level 1 inputs because they generally 
provide the most reliable evidence of fair value. 

Comparative totals 
The financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total but 
not by net position class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a 
presentation in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the Site Authority's 
financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2024 from which the summarized information was 
derived.  

New accounting pronouncements 
GASB Statement No.101, Compensated Absences, was adopted by the Site Authority for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2025. Statement No. 101 provides guidance on the recognition and 
measurement guidance for compensated absences. The implementation did not result in a material 
change to the financial statements. 

Note 3 - Liquidity and availability  

The Site Authority regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other 
contractual commitments. The Site Authority has various sources of liquidity at its disposal, including 
cash and cash equivalents, receivables and investments. Management continues to regularly monitor 
liquidity and consider all expenditures related to its ongoing activities.  
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At June 30, 2025, the Site Authority had the following financial assets and liquidity resources available 
over the next 12 months: 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,762,239$        
Accounts receivable 1,361,295          
Related party receivables 129,114             

9,252,648$        

 
Note 4 - Cash and cash equivalents  

The Site Authority's cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2025 is classified in the accompanying 
financial statements as follows: 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,762,239$        
Restricted cash 4,918,521          

12,680,760$      

 
Cash and cash equivalents 
At June 30, 2025, cash and cash equivalents consisted of demand deposits maintained at the bank. 
Total cash and cash equivalents of $12,680,760 had a corresponding carrying value balance with the 
bank of $12,680,760 at June 30, 2025.  

Custodial credit risk for deposits 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that the Site Authority will not be able to recover deposits 
or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in possession of an outside party. The 
California Government Code and Education Code do not contain legal or policy requirements that 
would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other than the provision that a financial 
institution must secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in 
an undivided collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law. This risk is mitigated as 
the Site Authority's deposits are maintained at financial institutions that are fully insured or 
collateralized as required by state law. 

Note 5 - Restricted investments 

The Site Authority holds restricted investments with CalTRUST, which are measured at net asset 
value ("NAV") per share and are not subject to fair value leveling.  

There are no significant restrictions on the ability to redeem investments at the NAV per share. 
Investments in CalTRUST can be redeemed daily without any significant liquidity constraints. As of 
the June 30, 2025, there are no unfunded capital commitments related to the investments in 
CalTRUST. Restricted investments held with CalTRUST as of June 30, 2025 totaled $12,276,313. 
This balance is made up entirely of pooled fixed income investments. As of June 30, 2025, this 
balance will matures between 1 to 5 years and these investments have an average ratings by 
Standards & Poor as AA. 

Financial assets valued using Level 1 inputs are based on quoted market prices within active markets 
and are valued on a recurring basis.  At June 30, 2025, the Site Authority did not have any investments 
measured using Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 inputs.  
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The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although the Site Authority believes 
its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of 
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments 
could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 

The Site Authority's policy is to recognize transfers in and transfers out as of the actual date of the 
event or change in circumstance that caused the transfer. There were no transfers during the year 
ended June 30, 2025. 

The composition of the investment return reported in the statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position are as follows: 

Interest and dividend income 676,095$           
Realized and unrealized gain on investments 138,865             

Total investment gain 814,960$           

 
Custodial credit risk 
Custodial credit risk for investment deposits is the risk that the Site Authority will not be able to recover 
its deposits in the event of a failure of a depository institution. In the ordinary course of Site Authority's 
operations, deposit balances in checking accounts can exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation ("FDIC") insured limits. In accordance with the Site Authority's investment policy, all 
certificates of deposit are FDIC-insured and limited to $250,000 at any one institution.  

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that if the counterparty to an investment transaction 
were to fail, the Site Authority would not be able to recover its investment. With respect to investments, 
custodial credit risk generally applies only to direct investments in marketable securities. Custodial 
credit risk does not apply to indirect investment in securities through the use of mutual funds and 
government investment pools. U.S. Treasury issues and Federally Sponsored Enterprise issues are 
held by Securities Investor Protection Corporation insured brokers and are not registered with the 
issuer in the Site Authority's name. 

Note 6 - Concentrations of credit risk 

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Site Authority to concentrations of credit risk 
include cash and cash equivalents. The Site Authority maintains its cash and cash equivalents and 
investments with high-credit quality financial institutions. At times, such amounts may exceed 
federally insured limits, which are currently $250,000 per institution. As of June 30, 2025, Site 
Authority's bank deposits exceeded the balance insured by the FDIC by $8,903,569, which are 
collateralized by securities held by the pledging financial institution.  

Note 7 - Due from CSUCI Financing Authority 

The due from CSUCI Financing Authority balance at June 30, 2025 was $41,264 and consists of 
special tax receipts yet to be transferred to the Site Authority to ultimately be used for capitalized 
lease payments. 
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Note 8 - Capital assets 

Capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2025, consists of the following: 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2024 Increases Decreases June 30, 2025

Infrastructure
Right-of-use asset 36,115,839$      -$                   -$                   36,115,839$        
Other 65,891               -                     -                     65,891                 
Accumulated depreciation: right-of-use asset (4,514,481)         (2,257,240)         -                     (6,771,721)           
Accumulated depreciation: other (15,645)              (1,647)                -                     (17,292)                

31,651,604        (2,258,887)         -                     29,392,717          

Leased building and building improvements 1,209,428          -                     -                     1,209,428            
Accumulated amortization (562,349)            (184,880)            -                     (747,229)              

647,079             (184,880)            -                     462,199               

Property and equipment 969,878 -                     -                     969,878               
Accumulated depreciation (969,878)            -                     -                     (969,878)              

-                     -                     -                     -                       

Capital assets, depreciable (net) 32,298,683$      (2,443,767)$       -$                   29,854,916$        

 
Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2025 was $2,443,767. 

Note 9 - Obligations under Public-Public Partnerships 

Public-Public Partnership 
On March 14, 2007, the CSU Trustees (the "Trustees"), Site Authority, and Financing Authority 
authorized the use of the SRB Program to provide funds to refinance certain of the outstanding 
Financing Authority Bonds.   

In August 2016, the Site Authority entered into an agreement to sell the apartment and town center 
rental facilities. The sale included 328 apartments, 12 retail units, and 58 units in the Town Center, 
and the Site Authority retained the infrastructure, 88 rental town homes, 112 for sale town homes, 
and 72 for the sale of single-family homes. In May 2017, the Site Authority defeased $74,000,000, 
and in October 2017, $13,540,000 in bonds, and refinanced the remaining portion of the infrastructure 
bond. Concurrent with the defeasance and refinancing of the bonds, the Site Authority entered into a 
public-public partnership with the Trustees of the CSU. The amount of $38,938,000 will be repaid 
from revenues received by the Site Authority. Interest ranging from the original 4.00% to 5.45% is 
paid semiannually on May 1 and November 1. The principal payments are paid on November 1 of 
each year beginning November 1, 2017, with the final payment due on November 1, 2037.  

The interest rate is based on the incremental borrowing rate of 3.09%. 

Obligations under public-public partnerships for the year ended June 30, 2025 are as follows: 

Balance
June 30, 2024 Additions Reductions

Balance
June 30, 2025

Current 
portion

Obligations under public-public partnerships 32,906,942$      -$                   (1,983,643)$       30,923,299$      1,959,788$        
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Annual maturity analysis of the Site Authority's obligations under public-public partnerships as of June 
30, 2025: 

Year ending June 30,

2026 2,893,481$        
2027 2,894,856          
2028 2,891,981          
2029 2,894,606          
2030 2,892,481          

2031-2035 14,461,811        
2036-2038 8,679,073          

Total obligations under public-public 
partnerships payments 37,608,289        

Less interest (6,684,990)         

Present value of future minimum obligations 
under public-public partnerships payments 30,923,299$      

 
Public-Private Partnerships 

 
Ground Sublease-East Campus University Glen: 328 Apartments and Town Center: 58 
Apartments and Ground Floor Retail 
On August 2016, CSU CI Site Authority ("Site Authority") entered into a ground sublease agreement 
with KW University Glen LLC ("KW") in which the KW improved the Property by constructing 328 
multifamily apartment buildings (University Glen) and another 58 multifamily apartment units and 
ground floor retail units (Town Center). The term of the agreement is from August 2016 to June 30, 
2098. KW shall pay Percentage Rent, which is seven percent of the effective gross income received.   

The rights retained by the Site Authority includes the right to select the tenants and the rental rate for 
100 Sublease Units. In addition, tenants are to be selected in accordance with the Priority System 
set out by the Site Authority. KW agrees to invest an amount of not less than $2,296,000 ($7,000 per 
University Glen Units) in upgrades to the interiors of the Units at the Property. All Improvement on 
the Property shall, during the Term, be and remain the Property of KW and the Site Authority shall 
not have title. At the end of the Term, all Improvements which constitute or are a part of the Property 
shall become without payment or any compensation to KW, the Property of the Site Authority. 

Ground Sublease Phase II Master Sublease 
In September 2021, Site Authority entered into a Phase II Master Sublease agreement with KW 
Camarillo Land, LLC ("KW Camarillo") for development of 32 acres including building infrastructure 
to support age/income restricted housing, multifamily housing, and single-family housing. As the 
infrastructure supporting the individual residential development types are completed and other 
conditions are met, the portion of the Property related to that phase of residential development will 
be released from the Master Ground Sublease and a longer-term ground sublease specific to that 
phase of residential development will be entered into. As of June 30, 2025, all residential 
developments have been released from the Master Ground Sublease with the longer-term ground 
sublease for each residential development in force. The phase ground subleases for each of the 
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residential development type, age/income restricted housing, multifamily housing, and single-family 
housing, were negotiated up front.   

The Master Ground Sublease term is two years with two possible one-year extensions upon the 
payment of $500,000 per extension, which are either refundable to KW Camarillo upon completion of 
the infrastructure improvement or retained by the Site Authority if the Master Ground Sublease 
expires without completion of all the infrastructure improvements. The Site Authority received 
$250,000 in advanced rent on execution of the Master Ground Sublease. 

Sublease for Age Restricted 
On September 3, 2021, the Site Authority entered into a Ground Sublease agreement with Vintage 
at University Glen, LP ("Vintage"). The term of the agreement is through June 30, 2098. The Sublease 
requires development of 170 rental units with all but two units restricted based on age qualification of 
55 years or older. Household income of residents of the Property are required to be below 60% of the 
area median income. 

The Age Restricted Sublease commenced when the Memorandum of Ground Lease (Age Restricted 
Apartment) was recorded with Ventura County. This took place on May 18, 2022. Vintage will have 
an initial four years, plus two optional one-year extension upon payment of $200,000 per extension, 
to complete the construction of the age restricted housing. Extension payments are refundable upon 
completion of the age restricted housing.  

The Site Authority received $1,125,000 advanced rent on commencement of the Age Restricted 
Sublease. This is being amortized over the life of the lease term. The Site Authority will also receive 
seven percent of the effective gross income received from the age restricted housing project through 
the term of the sublease. For the year ended June 30, 2025, the Site Authority has recorded $302,867 
in rent. 

Sublease for Multifamily Apartments 
On August 25, 2022, a Memorandum of Ground Lease (Multifamily Apartments) was executed 
between the Site Authority and UG2 MR, LLC ("UG2"). The term of the Lease is through June 30, 
2098. The agreement restricts UG2's right to encumber, assign or transfer the Site Authority's 
leasehold interest in the Multifamily Housing Property. The Lease further provides the Site Authority 
with a Right of First Offer regarding assignments of Lease. 

The Sublease requires the development of 310 Market Rate Multifamily Apartments in which the 
construction must be complete in four years plus two optional one-year extension upon payment of 
$200,000 per extension. Extension payments are refundable upon completion of the housing project. 
As of June 30, 2025, 288 units are rented. 

The Site Authority received $1,125,000 in advanced rent with the execution of the first Market Rate 
Multifamily Sublease. The Site Authority will also receive seven percent of the effective gross income 
received from all market rate apartments through the term of the sublease. For the year ended June 
30, 2025, the Site Authority has recorded $681,626 rent not including the advance rent. 

Sublease for Single Family/Townhouse Agreements 
On December 28, 2022, the Site Authority executed a Memorandum of Ground Lease (Single Family 
Housing Property-Phase One) with University Glen-Camarillo, LP ("University Glen"). The Tenant will 
construct 109 single-family homes, which is comprised of 64 townhouses and 45 single family 
detached houses. A joint venture between University Glen, Comstock Homes and Hearthstone will 
be the assigned entity to enter into these subleases.   
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The term of the development sublease will be four years, plus two optional one-year extensions upon 
payment of $2,000 per lot per extension to complete construction of the unit. Extension payments are 
refundable upon completion of each applicable single-family unit. The term of the homebuyer 
subleases will be through June 30, 2098. 

The Site Authority will receive a total of $25,000 per lot on the initial sale of each single-family home.  
$1,000 per lot will be paid to the Site Authority when each developer sublease commences. The 
remaining $24,000 per lot will be paid to the Site Authority through escrow at closing of the homebuyer 
sublease. The fee will constitute a complete prepayment of the ground sublease rent to the Site 
Authority. No further ground lease rent will be payable to the Site Authority under the homebuyer's 
sublease with the Site Authority other than rents for the Site Authority's maintenance and service 
obligations. As of June 30, 2025, the Site Authority recorded $109,000 for 109 completed lots, and 
$2,208,000 for 92 homes sold.  

Note 10 - Leases 

Electricity Supply Strategic Reserve - Capacity and Energy Purchase Agreement 
The site and facility were leased from the Board of Trustees of the California State University to the 
Site Authority. The lease is expected to be continuously renewed through December 31, 2027, as the 
site is necessary for the Site Authority to meet the requirements under the Electricity Supply Strategic 
Reserve - Capacity and Energy Purchase ("ESSR") agreement with the California Department of 
Water Resources ("DWR"). The site rent is increased annually by the Consumer Price Index ("CPI") 
for all Urban Consumers ("CPI-U"), published by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics from 
the immediately preceding calendar year, calculated on October 31 or any replacement index 
reasonably agreed to by the parties if such index is no longer available. The interest rate is based on 
the incremental borrowing rate of 4.98%. 

Lease activity for the year ended June 30, 2025 was as follows: 

Balance Balance Current
July 1, 2024 Additions Reductions June 30, 2025 portion

Lease obligations 668,000$           -$                   (179,155)$          488,845$           188,282$           

 
Annual maturity analysis of the Site Authority's leases as of June 30, 2025: 

Year ending June 30,

2026 208,368$           
2027 208,368             
2028 104,184             

Total lease payments 520,920             
Less interest (32,075)              

Present value of future minimum lease 
payments 488,845$           
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Note 11 - Deferred outflows of resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of 
resources, represents a consumption of net position or fund balance that applies to a future period(s) 
and thus, will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The Site 
Authority has only one item that qualifies for reporting in this category. It is the deferred charge on 
refunding reported in the government-wide statement of net position. A deferred charge on refunding 
results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This 
amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 

Note 12 - Partial bond refunding 

Bonds are refunded to retire all or a portion of an outstanding bond issue. Most typically, refundings 
are done to refinance at a lower interest rate to reduce overall debt service. Certain issues of bonds 
may be refunded prior to the call date, known as an advance refunding. 

On April 1, 2005, the Site Authority, entered into an agreement with the Campus to pay the Campus' 
debt service on revenue bonds issued to build and renovate certain Campus buildings. The original 
loan amount was $61,945,000 and has since been refinanced in 2013 and 2014 to $57,290,000. It 
was refinanced again in 2021. Interest ranging from 0.50% to 3.00% is paid semiannually on May 1 
and November 1. The principal payments are paid on November 1 of each year beginning November 
1, 2021, with the final payment due November 1, 2038. 

In July 2021, on behalf of Site Authority, the Trustees of California State University issued 
Systemwide Revenue Bond, Series 2021B. These bonds are labeled internally in Site Authority as 
SRB 21B - Refunding of Channel Islands Information Resource Center and SRB 21B - Refunding of 
Channel Islands BAN. These bonds reduced the present value of future debt service payments. The 
savings were available due to improved lower interest rates during the year.  

The effect of the refunding is summarized as follows: 

Title and series
Closing date July 29, 2021
Net interest rate 2.04%
Refunding bonds issued 49,235,000$      
Premium -                     
Issuance costs and insurance (159,684)            

Net proceeds 49,075,316$      

Economic gain on refunding 11,469,341$      
Number of years affected 16                      

 Systemwide Revenue 
Bond, Series 2021B 

 
The difference between the cash flows required to service the old debt and that required to service 
the new debt and complete the refunding was $4,779,341. 
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Deferred and amortized amounts on the Site Authority's bond refunding are reported as deferred 
outflows of resources at June 30, 2025. The total deferred outflow of resources generated from the 
refunding of debt on July 29, 2021 was $5,998,504, which is made up of increases in principal of 
$6,690,000 and decreases in interest charges of $691,496. Site Authority recorded amortization of 
total deferred outflows of resources for $465,850 for the year ended June 30, 2025. The balance of 
deferred outflows of resources as of June 30, 2025 is $4,173,925. 

Note 13 - Loans payable 

Loans payable for the year ended June 30, 2025 are as follows: 

 Interest
rate 

Fiscal year 
maturity date

Original issue 
amount

Amount 
outstanding

June 30, 2025

California State University,
SRB 21B - Refunding of Channel 
Islands BAN 0.50% - 3.00% 2038 5,050,000$        4,740,000$        

SRB 21B - Refunding of Channel 
Islands Information Resource 
Center 0.50% - 3.00% 2038 44,185,000        41,510,000        

49,235,000$      46,250,000$      

 
Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2025 was as follows: 

Balance Balance Current
July 1, 2024 Additions Reductions June 30, 2025 portion

Loans
CSU Channel Islands 48,670,000$      -$                   (2,420,000)$       46,250,000$      3,335,000$        
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The loans mature as follows, as of June 30, 2025: 

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest

2026 3,335,000$        850,699$           
2027 3,375,000          817,054             
2028 3,275,000          775,497             
2029 3,325,000          727,924             
2030 3,375,000          674,388             

2031-2035 17,860,000        2,389,712          
2036-2038 11,705,000        439,469             

46,250,000$      6,674,743$        

 
Note 14 - Disclosure related to debt 

GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct 
Placements, requires certain disclosures regarding the amount of unused lines of credit, assets 
pledged as collateral for debt and terms specified in debt agreements related to significant (1) events 
of default with finance-related consequences, (2) termination events with finance-related 
consequences, and (3) subjective acceleration clauses.  

The Site Authority's future annual loan payments of the Broome Library will be funded and paid by 
the Chancellor's Office and defaults of finance-related consequences are held to the Chancellor's 
Office. Since the loan is not directly funded, GASB Statement No. 88 does not apply to the Site 
Authority. 

Note 15 - Commitments 

The Site Authority entered into a Tenant Placement agreement with Kennedy Wilson Properties, LTD. 
for 100 of the 328 apartments sold in August of 2016. These apartments are exclusively used by 
CSUCI faculty and staff and are typically 5% below market rental rates. The Site Authority agreed to 
pay for the subsidy through proceeds from the annual Ground Sublease Payment. Total rental 
expense for the year ended June 30, 2025 amounted to $325,935. The Ground Sublease generated 
$772,883 in income, which nets to a surplus of $446,948. 

Note 16 - Net position 

The Site Authority has a total net deficit of $19,152,458 as of June 30, 2025. The net deficit in net 
position is due to an agreement in 2005 where the Site Authority agreed to pay the Campus' debt 
service on certain revenue bonds to renovate certain Campus buildings, but the ownership of the said 
assets was not transferred to the Site Authority. The amount outstanding on the loan payable to the 
Campus as of June 30, 2025 is $46,250,000, resulting in the net deficit. This is documented in 
correspondence from the Chancellor's Office to the CSUCI President dated October 18, 2016 
regarding Debt Service Payments for the CSUCI Broome Library. The intent of the agreement is that 
the Chancellor's Office was to cover any debt service payments for the CSUCI Broome Library. 
Further, on April 12, 2018, the Site Authority leased the Campus' cogeneration plant on a stand-by 
mode operation and signed a new energy service agreement with the Campus, entitling the Site 
Authority to the net revenues of the cogeneration plant primarily to assist the Campus. As a result, 
there is not a significant risk of the Site Authority's ability to continue as a going concern.  
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Note 17 - Related party transactions 

The Site Authority receives its financing and contributions from the CSU Trustees, and the Site 
Authority has also entered into certain transactions with the Campus and recognized auxiliary 
organizations of the Campus relating to infrastructure, residential, commercial developments, and 
personnel cost reimbursement. The accompanying financial statements include the transactions with 
the CSU Trustees, the Site Authority, the Campus and a recognized auxiliary organization of the 
Campus as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025.  

As of June 30, 2025, total related party receivable consists of the following: 

California State University Channel Islands 129,114$           

Total related party receivables 129,114$           

 
As of June 30, 2025, total related party payables consist of the following: 

California State University Channel Islands 128,362$           

Total related party payables 128,362$           

 
The accompanying financial statements also include the following transactions with the University 
and other related parties as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025: 

Payments received from University 1,664,184$        
Payments made to University 4,088,454          
Payments made to CI University Auxiliary Services, Inc. 11,605               

 
Note 18 - Maintenance rent 

The CSUCI Site Authority contracts with Kennedy-Wilson Properties, LTD to manage the common 
area for homeowners, renters, and the Town Center tenants. Common area charges include all costs 
and expenses incurred by the CSUCI Site Authority in the operation, maintenance, replacement, and 
repair of the common areas during the term of the sublease. Common area expenses are allocated 
among all units based on type, such as single-family residences, townhomes, rental property, or retail 
space. Maintenance rent for the year ended June 30, 2025 was $3,269,581. 

Note 19 - Energy sales 

In April 2018, the Site Authority subleased the Campus' cogeneration plant and entered into an energy 
services agreement with the Campus to operate a RMR operation through December 31, 2022. The 
Site Authority makes an annual payment of $1 to the Campus to sublease the cogeneration plant. 
Under the terms of the agreement, the Site Authority is the operator of the plant, which includes being 
responsible for the costs of the plant's operations as well as entitling the Site Authority to the plant's 
net earnings. Revenue is recognized as energy is provided to the plant's customers, which primarily 
consist of Southern California Edison and the Campus.  

On January 1, 2023, the Site Authority subleased the Campus's cogeneration plant to operate as an 
ESSR asset for DWR through December 31, 2027. Under the terms of the agreement, the Site 
Authority is the operator of the plant, which includes being responsible for the costs of the plant's 
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operations as well as entitling the Site Authority to the plant's net earnings. The revenue recognized 
is the Performance Based Availability Charge ("PBAC") paid to the Site Authority from DWR for 
ownership of the plant's electricity capacity. The PBAC is paid monthly and based on the plant's 
availability, weighted for seasonality, with summer months having a higher payment value. The Site 
Authority will also receive revenue from the CAISO Settlements Market when the plant is dispatched.  
However, any Market Settlement Revenue is owned by DWR and will be passed through when 
payments are received from California Independent System Operator ("CAISO"). All costs to operate 
the plant under the approved budget are reimbursable by DWR. Costs in excess of the approved 
budget require DWR approval. Total energy sales for the year ended June 30, 2025 are $3,106,194. 

Note 20 - Contingencies 

From time to time, the Site Authority may have claims against it arising from its normal operations. 
Currently, there are no claims or litigation against the Site Authority. 



 

 

Supplementary Information 
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Assets:

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents  $            7,762,239 
Short-term investments                             -   
Accounts receivable, net                1,531,673 
Lease receivable, current portion                             -   
P3 receivable, current portion                             -   
Notes receivable, current portion                             -   
Pledges receivable, net                             -   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets                     38,592 

Total current assets                9,332,504 

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents                4,918,521 
Accounts receivable, net                             -   
Lease receivable, net of current portion                             -   
P3 receivable, net of current portion                             -   
Notes receivable, net of current portion                             -   
Student loans receivable, net                             -   
Pledges receivable, net                             -   
Endowment investments                             -   
Other long-term investments              12,276,313 
Capital assets, net              29,854,916 
Other assets                             -   

Total noncurrent assets              47,049,750 

Total assets              56,382,254 

Deferred outflows of resources:
Unamortized loss on debt refunding                4,173,925 
Net pension liability                             -   
Net OPEB liability                             -   
Leases                             -   
P3                             -   
Others                             -   

Total deferred outflows of resources                4,173,925 

Liabilities:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable                   508,361 
Accrued salaries and benefits                             -   
Accrued compensated absences, current portion                             -   
Unearned revenues                     14,706 
Lease liabilities, current portion                2,148,070 
SBITA liabilities - current portion                             -   
P3 liabilities - current portion                             -   
Long-term debt obligations, current portion                3,335,000 
portion                             -   
Depository accounts                             -   
Other liabilities                   457,250 

Total current liabilities                6,463,387 

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences, net of current portion                             -   
Unearned revenues                1,066,176 
Grants refundable                             -   
Lease liabilities, net of current portion              29,264,074 
SBITA liabilities, net of current portion                             -   
P3 liabilities, net of current portion                             -   
Long-term debt obligations, net of current portion              42,915,000 
current portion                             -   
Depository accounts                             -   
Net other postemployment benefits liability                             -   
Net pension liability                             -   
Other liabilities                             -   

Total noncurrent liabilities              73,245,250 

Total liabilities              79,708,637 

Deferred inflows of resources:
P3 service concession arrangements                             -   
Net pension liability                             -   
Net OPEB liability                             -   
Unamortized gain on debt refunding                             -   
Nonexchange transactions                             -   
Lease                             -   
P3                             -   
Others                             -   

Total deferred inflows of resources                             -   

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets               (1,557,228)
Restricted for:

Nonexpendable – endowments                             -   
Expendable:

Scholarships and fellowships                             -   
Research                             -   
Loans                             -   
Capital projects              12,344,434 
Debt service                3,330,000 
Others                3,006,906 

Unrestricted             (36,276,570)

Total net position  $         (19,152,458)  
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Revenues:
Operating revenues:

Student tuition and fees, gross  $                      -   
Scholarship allowances (enter as negative)                          -   

Grants and contracts, noncapital:
Federal                          -   
State                          -   
Local                          -   
Nongovernmental                          -   

Sales and services of educational activities                          -   
Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises, gross                          -   

Scholarship allowances (enter as negative)                          -   
Other operating revenues              9,471,421 

Total operating revenues              9,471,421 

Expenses:
Operating expenses:

Instruction                          -   
Research                          -   
Public service              3,244,099 
Academic support                          -   
Student services                          -   
Institutional support                          -   
Operation and maintenance of plant              1,809,300 
Student grants and scholarships                          -   
Auxiliary enterprise expenses                          -   
Depreciation and amortization              2,443,767 

Total operating expenses              7,497,166 

Operating income (loss)              1,974,255 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
State appropriations, noncapital                          -   
Federal financial aid grants, noncapital                          -   
State financial aid grants, noncapital                          -   
Local financial aid grants, noncapital                          -   
Nongovernmental and other financial aid grants, noncapital                          -   
Other federal nonoperating grants, noncapital                          -   

Gifts, noncapital                          -   
Investment income (loss), net                 814,960 
Endowment income (loss), net                          -   
Interest expense            (1,791,395)
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses)              5,757,833 

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses)              4,781,398 

Income (loss)  before other revenues (expenses)              6,755,653 

State appropriations, capital                          -   
Grants and gifts, capital                          -   
Additions (reductions) to permanent endowments                          -   

Increase (decrease) in net position              6,755,653 

Net position:

Net position at beginning of year          (25,908,111)

Net position at end of year  $      (19,152,458)
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1 Cash and cash equivalents:
Portion of restricted cash and cash equivalents related to 
endowments

 $                               -   

All other restricted cash and cash equivalents                      4,918,521 
Noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents                      4,918,521 
Current cash and cash equivalents                      7,762,239 
Total  $                12,680,760 

 



California State University, Channel Islands Site Authority 
 

Other Information 
June 30, 2025 

 
 

37 

2.1 Composition of investments:
Investment Type Current Noncurrent Total

Money market funds  $                               -    $                                   -                                        - 
Repurchase agreements                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Certificates of deposit                                   -                                         -                                        - 
U.S. agency securities                                   -                                         -                                        - 
U.S. treasury securities                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Municipal bonds                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Corporate bonds                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Asset-backed securities                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Mortgage-backed securities                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Commercial paper                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Supranational                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Mutual funds                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Exchange-traded funds                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Equity securities                                      - 
Alternative investments:                                   -                                         -   

Private equity (including limited partnerships)                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Hedge funds                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Managed futures                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Real estate investments (including REITs)                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Commodities                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Derivatives                                   -                                         -                                        - 
Other alternative investments                                   -                                         -                                        - 

Other external investment pools                                   -                                         -                                        - 
CSU Consolidated Investment Pool (formerly SWIFT)                                   -                                         -                                        - 
State of California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)                                   -                                         -                                        - 

State of California Surplus Money Investment Fund (SMIF)                                   -                                         -                                        - 

Other investments:
CalTRUST Short-Term Fund  $                               -    $                      4,748,200  $                    4,748,200 
CalTRUST Medium-Term Fund                                   -                            7,528,113                        7,528,113 

                                   -   
                                   -   
                                   -   

Total other investments                                     -                        12,276,313                      12,276,313 
Total investments                                     -                        12,276,313                      12,276,313 
Less endowment investments (enter as negative 
number)

                                        -                                      - 

Total investments, net of endowments  $                               -    $                    12,276,313  $                  12,276,313 
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2.2 Fair value hierarchy in investments:

Investment Type Total
Quoted Prices in Active 

Markets for Identical 
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)

Net Asset Value 
(NAV)

Money market funds -$                              -$                                  -$                               -$                            -$                        
Repurchase agreements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Certificates of deposit -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
U.S. agency securities -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
U.S. treasury securities -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Municipal bonds -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Corporate bonds -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Asset-backed securities -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Mortgage-backed securities -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Commercial paper -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Supranational -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Mutual funds -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Exchange-traded funds -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Equity securities -                                
Alternative investments: -                                    -                                 -                              -                          

Private equity (including limited partnerships) -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Hedge funds -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Managed futures -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Real estate investments (including REITs) -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Commodities -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Derivatives -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
Other alternative investments -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          

Other external investment pools -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
CSU Consolidated Investment Pool (formerly SWIFT) -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
State of California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          

State of California Surplus Money Investment Fund (SMIF)
-                                

Other investments:
CalTRUST Short-Term Fund 4,748,200$                   -$                                  -$                               -$                            4,748,200$             
CalTRUST Medium-Term Fund 7,528,113                     -                                    -                                 -                              7,528,113               

-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          

Total other investments 12,276,313                   -                                    -                                 -                              12,276,313             
Total investments 12,276,313$                 -$                                  -                                 -                              12,276,313             

 
2.3 Investments held by the University under contractual agreements: Not applicable  
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3.1 Capital Assets, excluding ROU assets: 

Composition of capital assets, excluding ROU assets: Balance
June 30, 2024 Reclassifications Prior Period Additions

Prior Period 
Retirements

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Retirements

Transfer of 
completed 
CWIP/PWIP

Balance
June 30, 2025

Non-depreciable/Non-amortizable capital assets:
Land and land improvements -$                              -$                                  -$                               -$                            -$                        -$                              -$                           -$                      
Works of art and historical treasures -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        
Construction work in progress (CWIP) -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Intangible assets:
Rights and easements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        
Patents, copyrights and trademarks -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        
Intangible assets in progress (PWIP) -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Licenses and permits -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        

Other intangible assets:
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             

Total Other intangible assets -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Total intangible assets -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Total non-depreciable/non-amortizable capital 
assets -$                              -$                                  -$                               -$                            -$                        -$                              -$                           -$                            -$                      

Depreciable/Amortizable capital assets:
Buildings and building improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Improvements, other than buildings -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Infrastructure 65,891                          -                                    -                                 -                              65,891                    -                                -                             -                              65,891                  
Leasehold improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Personal property:

Equipment 969,878                        -                                    -                                 -                              969,878                  -                                -                             -                              969,878                
Library books and materials -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Intangible assets:
Software and websites -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Rights and easements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Patents, copyrights and trademarks -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Licenses and permits -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Other intangible assets:

-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Total Other intangible assets: -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Total intangible assets -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Total depreciable/amortizable capital assets 1,035,769                     -                                    -                                 -                              1,035,769               -                                -                             -                              1,035,769             
Total capital assets  $                  1,035,769  $                                   -    $                                -    $                             -    $            1,035,769  $                                -    $                             -    $                              -    $           1,035,769 

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization: 
Buildings and building improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        
Improvements, other than buildings -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        
Infrastructure (15,645)                         -                                    -                                 -                              (15,645)                   (1,648)                           (17,293)                 
Leasehold improvements -                                -                          -                                -                             -                        
Personal property:

Equipment (969,878)                       -                                    -                                 -                              (969,878)                 -                                -                             (969,878)               
Library books and materials -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                        

Intangible assets:
Software and websites -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                                  

Rights and easements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                                  

Patents, copyrights and trademarks -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                                  

Licenses and permits -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                                  

Other intangible assets:
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                                  

-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                                  

-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                                  

-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                                  

-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                                  

Total Other intangible assets: -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Total intangible assets -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization (985,523)                       -                                    -                                 -                              (985,523)                 (1,648)                           -                             -                              (987,171)               

Total capital assets, net excluding ROU assets
50,246$                        -$                                  -$                               -$                            50,246$                  (1,648)$                         -$                           -$                            48,598$                 
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Composition of capital assets - Lease ROU, net: Balance
June 30, 2024

Prior Period 
Reclassifications Prior Period Additions

Prior Period 
Reductions

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Remeasurements Reductions
Balance

June 30, 2025

Non-depreciable/Non-amortizable lease assets:
Land and land improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Total non-depreciable/non-amortizable lease 
assets -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Depreciable/Amortizable lease assets:
Land and land improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Buildings and building improvements 1,209,428                     -                                    -                                 -                              1,209,428               -                                -                             -                              1,209,428             
Improvements, other than buildings 38,373,078                   -                                    -                                 -                              38,373,078             -                                -                             38,373,078           
Infrastructure -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Personal property: -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Equipment -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Total depreciable/amortizable lease assets 39,582,506                   -                                    -                                 -                              39,582,506             -                                -                             -                              39,582,506           

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization: 
Land and land improvements -                          -                        
Buildings and building improvements (562,349)                       -                                    -                                 -                              (562,349)                 (184,879)                       -                             -                              (747,228)               
Improvements, other than buildings (6,771,720)                    -                                    -                                 -                              (6,771,720)              (2,257,240)                    -                             (9,028,960)            
Infrastructure -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                             -                              -                        
Personal property:

Equipment -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                             -                              -                        
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization (7,334,069)                    -                                    -                                 -                              (7,334,069)              (2,442,119)                    -                             -                              (9,776,188)            

Total capital assets - lease ROU, net 32,248,437$                 -$                                  -$                               -$                            32,248,437$           (2,442,119)$                  -$                           -$                            29,806,318$         

Composition of capital assets - SBITA ROU, net Balance
June 30, 2024 Reclassifications Prior Period Additions

Prior Period 
Reductions

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Remeasurements Reductions
Balance

June 30, 2025

Depreciable/Amortizable SBITA assets:
Software                                   -                                         -                                      -                                   -                               -                                      -                                   -                                    -                              -   

Total depreciable/amortizable SBITA assets                                   -                                         -                                      -                                   -                               -                                      -                                   -                                    -                              -   

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization:
Software                                   -                                         -                                      -                                   -                               -                                      -                                   -                                    -                              -   

Total accumulated depreciation/amortization                                     -                                         -                                      -                                   -                               -                                      -                                   -                                    -                              - 

Total capital assets - SBITA ROU, net                                     -                                         -                                      -                                   -                               -                                      -                                   -                                    -                              -  
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Composition of capital assets - P3 ROU, net: Balance
June 30, 2024 Reclassifications Prior Period Additions

Prior Period 
Reductions

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Remeasurements Reductions
Balance

June 30, 2025

Non-depreciable/Non-amortizable P3 assets:
Land and land improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Total non-depreciable/non-amortizable P3 
assets -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Depreciable/Amortizable P3 assets:
Land and land improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Buildings and building improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Improvements, other than buildings -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Infrastructure -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Personal property:

Equipment -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Total depreciable/amortizable P3 assets -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Less accumulated depreciation/amortization:
Land and land improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Buildings and building improvements -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Improvements, other than buildings -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Infrastructure -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Personal property:

Equipment -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Total capital assets - P3 ROU, net -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -$                      

Total capital assets, net including ROU assets
29,854,916$         

3.2 Detail of depreciation and amortization expense:
Depreciation and amortization expense - capital assets, 
excluding ROU assets 1,648$                          
Amortization expense - Leases ROU 2,442,119                     
Amortization expense - SBITA ROU -                                
Amortization expense - P3 ROU -                                
Depreciation and Amortization expense - Others

Total depreciation and amortization 2,443,767$                   
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4 Long-term liabilities:

Balance
June 30, 2024

Prior Period 
Adjustments/Reclassific

ations

Balance
June 30, 2024 

(Restated) Additions Reductions
Balance

June 30, 2025 Current Portion Noncurrent Portion
1. Accrued compensated absences -$                                         -$                                                -$                                           -$                                        -$                                  -$                                           -$                                       -$                                         

2. Claims liability for losses and loss adjustment 
expenses -                                            -                                                  -                                             -                                          -                                    -                                             -                                         -                                           

3. Capital lease obligations (pre-ASC 842):
Gross balance -                                -                                                 -                                              -                                          -                                    -                                             -                                         -                              
Unamortized net premium/(discount) -                                -                                                 -                                              -                                          -                                    -                                             -                                         -                              

Total capital lease obligations (pre ASC 842) -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              

4. Long-term debt obligations:
4.1 Auxiliary revenue bonds (non-SRB related) -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              
4.2 Commercial paper -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              
4.3 Notes payable (SRB related) -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              
4.4 Finance purchase of capital assets -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              
4.5 Others: -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             

Debt services on revenue bond 48,670,000                   -                                    48,670,000                    -                              (2,420,000)              46,250,000                   3,335,000                   42,915,000                  
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              
-                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              

Total others 48,670,000                   -                                    48,670,000                    -                              (2,420,000)              46,250,000                   3,335,000                   42,915,000                  
Sub-total long-term debt 48,670,000                   -                                    48,670,000                    -                              (2,420,000)              46,250,000                   3,335,000                   42,915,000                  

4.6 Unamortized net bond premium/(discount) -                                -                                 -                                -                             -                              
Total long-term debt obligations  $                48,670,000                                         -                      48,670,000                                   -               (2,420,000)  $                 46,250,000                    3,335,000                   42,915,000 

5. Lease, SBITA, P3 liabilities:  Balance
June 30, 2024 

Prior Period 
Adjustments/Reclassific

ations  Additions  Remeasurements  Reductions 
 Balance

June 30, 2025  Current Portion  Noncurrent Portion 
Lease liabilities                    33,574,942                                       -                                      -                                   -                 (2,161,798)                     31,412,144                    2,148,070                   29,264,074 
SBITA liabilities                                   -                                         -                                      -                                   -                               -                                      -                                   -                                    -   
P3 liabilities - SCA                                   -                                         -                                      -                                   -                               -                                      -                                   -                                    -   
P3 liabilities - non-SCA                                   -                                         -                                      -                                   -                               -                                      -                                   -                                    -   

Sub-total P3 liabilities                                   -                                         -                                      -                                   -                               -                                      -                                   -                                    -   
Total Lease, SBITA, P3 liabilities  $                33,574,942  $                                   -                                      -                                   -                 (2,161,798)                     31,412,144                    2,148,070                   29,264,074 

Total long-term liabilities  $                 77,662,144                    5,483,070                   72,179,074  
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5
Future minimum payments schedule - leases, SBITA, 
P3:

Principal Interest Principal and Interest Principal
Interest Principal and Interest

Principal
Interest

Principal and 
Interest Principal Only Interest Only

Principal and 
Interest

Year ending June 30:
2026 2,148,070$                   953,778$                          3,101,848$                    -$                            -$                        -$                              -$                           -$                            -$                      2,148,070$         953,778$       3,101,848$          
2027 2,221,149                     882,074                            3,103,223                      -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        2,221,149           882,074         3,103,223            
2028 2,187,153                     809,012                            2,996,165                      -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        2,187,153           809,012         2,996,165            
2029 2,153,198                     741,408                            2,894,606                      -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        2,153,198           741,408         2,894,606            
2030 2,219,298                     673,183                            2,892,481                      -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        2,219,298           673,183         2,892,481            
2031 - 2035 12,196,758                   2,265,054                         14,461,812                    -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        12,196,758         2,265,054      14,461,812          
2036 - 2040 8,286,518                     392,554                            8,679,072                      -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        8,286,518           392,554         8,679,072            
2041 - 2045 -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        -                      -                 -                       
2046 - 2050 -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        -                      -                 -                       
2051 - 2055 -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        -                      -                 -                       
Thereafter -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        -                      -                 -                       

Total minimum payments 31,412,144$                 6,717,063                         38,129,207                    -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        31,412,144         6,717,063      38,129,207          
Less: amounts representing interest (6,717,063)           

Present value of future minimum payments 31,412,144          
Total Leases, SBITA, P3 liabilities 31,412,144          

Less: current portion
(2,148,070)           

Leases, SBITA, P3 liabilities, net of current 
portion  $        29,264,074 

6
Future minimum payments schedule - Long-term debt 
obligations:

Principal Interest Principal and Interest Principal
Interest Principal and Interest

Principal
Interest

Principal and 
Interest

Year ending June 30:
2026 -$                              -$                                  -$                               3,335,000$                 850,699$                4,185,699$                   3,335,000$                 850,699$                     4,185,699$           
2027 -                                -                                    -                                 3,375,000                   817,054                  4,192,054                     3,375,000                   817,054                       4,192,054             
2028 -                                -                                    -                                 3,275,000                   775,497                  4,050,497                     3,275,000                   775,497                       4,050,497             
2029 -                                -                                    -                                 3,325,000                   727,924                  4,052,924                     3,325,000                   727,924                       4,052,924             
2030 -                                -                                    -                                 3,375,000                   674,388                  4,049,388                     3,375,000                   674,388                       4,049,388             
2031 - 2035 -                                -                                    -                                 17,860,000                 2,389,712               20,249,712                   17,860,000                 2,389,712                    20,249,712           
2036 - 2040 -                                -                                    -                                 11,705,000                 439,469                  12,144,469                   11,705,000                 439,469                       12,144,469           
2041 - 2045 -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
2046 - 2050 -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
2051 - 2055 -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        
Thereafter -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                          -                                -                             -                              -                        

Total minimum payments -$                              -$                                  -$                               46,250,000$               6,674,743$             52,924,743$                 46,250,000$               6,674,743$                  52,924,743$         
Less: amounts representing interest (6,674,743)            

Present value of future minimum payments 46,250,000           
Unamortized net premium/(discount) -                        
Total long-term debt obligations 46,250,000           
Less: current portion (3,335,000)            
Long-term debt obligations, net of current portion 42,915,000$         

Lease Liabilities Total Leases, SBITA, P3 liabilities 

Auxiliary revenue bonds (non-SRB related) All other long-term debt obligations Total long-term debt obligations

SBITA liabilities Public-Private or Public-Public Partnerships (P3)
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7 Transactions with related entities:

Payments to University for salaries of University personnel 
working on contracts, grants, and other programs

 $                     110,691 

Payments to University for other than salaries of University 
personnel

                     3,977,763 

Payments received from University for services, space, 
and programs

                     1,664,184 

Gifts-in-kind to the University from discretely presented 
component units

                                    - 

Gifts (cash or assets) to the University from discretely 
presented component units

                                    - 

Accounts payable to University                        (128,362)
Other amounts payable to University                                     - 
Accounts receivable from University                         129,114 
Other amounts receivable from University                                     - 

8 Restatements: Not applicable  
 

9 Natural classifications of operating expenses:

 Salaries  Benefits - Other  Benefits - Pension  Benefits - OPEB 
 Scholarships and 

fellowships 
 Supplies and other 

services 
 Depreciation and 

amortization 
 Total operating 

expenses 
Instruction -$                              -$                                  -$                               -$                            -$                        -$                              -$                           -$                            
Research -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                                -                              
Public service -                                -                                    -                                 -                              3,244,099                     3,244,099                    
Academic support -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                                -                              
Student services -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                                -                              
Institutional support -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                                -                              
Operation and maintenance of plant -                                -                                    -                                 -                              1,809,300                     1,809,300                    
Student grants and scholarships -                          -                              
Auxiliary enterprise expenses -                                -                                    -                                 -                              -                                -                              
Depreciation and amortization 2,443,767                   2,443,767                    
Total operating expenses -$                              -$                                  -$                               -$                            -$                        5,053,399$                   2,443,767$                 7,497,166$                  
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True
10 Deferred outflows/inflows of resources:

1. Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows - unamortized loss on refunding(s)  $                  4,173,925 
Deferred outflows - net pension liability -                                
Deferred outflows - net OPEB liability -                                
Deferred outflows - leases -                                
Deferred outflows - P3 -                                
Deferred outflows - others: -                                

Sales/intra-entity transfers of future revenues -                                
Gain/loss on sale leaseback -                                
Loan origination fees and costs -                                
Change in fair value of hedging derivative instrument -                                
Irrevocable split-interest agreements -                                

-                                
-                                
-                                

Total deferred outflows - others -                                
Total deferred outflows of resources 4,173,925$                   

2. Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows - P3 service concession arrangements -$                              
Deferred inflows - net pension liability -                                
Deferred inflows - net OPEB liability -                                

Deferred inflows - unamortized gain on debt refunding(s)
-                                

Deferred inflows - nonexchange transactions -                                
Deferred inflows - leases -                                
Deferred inflows - P3 -                                
Deferred inflows - others: -                                

Sales/intra-entity transfers of future revenues -                                
Gain/loss on sale leaseback -                                
Loan origination fees and costs -                                
Change in fair value of hedging derivative instrument -                                
Irrevocable split-interest agreements -                                

-                                
-                                
-                                

Total deferred inflows - others -                                
Total deferred inflows of resources -$                              

11 Other nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Other nonoperating revenues 6,847,780$                   
Other nonoperating (expenses)                     (1,089,947)

Total other nonoperating revenues (expenses)
5,757,833$                   
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Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 12,680,760$      

Accounts receivable 1,361,295          
Due from CSU Channel Islands 129,114             
Investments 12,276,313        
Prepaid expense 38,592               
Due from CSUCI Financing Authority - restricted 41,264               
Other assets - refunding of debt 4,173,925          
Capital assets, net 29,854,916        

Total assets 60,556,179$      

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 528,102$           
Interest payable to CSU Systemwide Revenue Bonds 309,147             
Deferred Revenue 1,080,882          
Due to CSU Channel Islands 128,362             
Loan from CSU Office of the Chancellor 46,250,000        
Lease liability 488,845             
PPP liability 30,923,299        

Total liabilities 79,708,637        

Net assets (deficit) (19,152,458)       
Total liabilities and net assets 60,556,179$      
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General CI Common Area Mission Hills & Low & Moderate Broome
Operations Power 32 Acres Maintenance Anacapa Apts Income East Campus Library Total

Operating revenues:
Energy sales -$                     3,106,194$           -$                     -$                   -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     3,106,194$           
Maintenance rent and reserve -                      -                      -                      3,269,581           -                      -                      -                      -                      3,269,581             
Sublease rent -                      -                      1,294,000             -                     1,673,175             -                      -                      -                      2,967,175             
Home sales 75,913                 -                      -                      -                     -                      -                                             -  -                      75,913                 
Miscellaneous revenues 9,750                                          -  42,808                 -                                           -                         -                         -                         -  52,558                 

Total operating revenues 85,663                 3,106,194             1,336,808             3,269,581           1,673,175             -                          -                          -                          9,471,421             

Operating expenses:
Cost of energy sales -                      1,809,300                                    -                             -                        -                         -                         -                         -  1,809,300             
Depreciation of capital assets 1,647                   184,880               -                      -                     -                      -                      2,257,240                                    -  2,443,767             
General, administrative, and other expenses 590,909               -                      10,060                 2,255,338           325,935               -                      61,857                 -                      3,244,099             

Total operating expenses 592,556               1,994,180             10,060                 2,255,338           325,935               -                      2,319,097             -                      7,497,166             

Operating income (loss) (506,893)              1,112,014             1,326,748             1,014,243           1,347,240             -                      (2,319,097)            -                      1,974,255             

Nonoperating revenue (expense):
Interest expense -                      (28,471)                -                                                 -  -                      -                      (894,573)              -                      (923,044)              
Investment income 579,146                                      -  -                      235,814              -                      -                                             -  -                      814,960               
Property tax -                                             -  -                                                 -  -                      676,434               2,705,735             -                      3,382,169             
Sales tax 27,694                                        -  -                                                 -  -                      -                                             -  -                      27,694                 
Special tax -                                             -  -                                                 -  -                      (144,804)              996,403               -                      851,599               
Pass through tax -                                             -  -                                                 -  -                      -                      (1,089,947)            -                      (1,089,947)            
Contribution for debt service -                                             -  -                                                 -  -                      -                                             -  2,486,683             2,486,683             
Interest on loan payable to CSU, Channel Islands -                                             -  -                                                 -  -                      -                                             -  (868,351)              (868,351)              
Other nonoperating revenue (expense) -                      -                      -                      -                     -                      -                      99,635                 -                      99,635                 

Total nonoperating revenue (expense) 606,840               (28,471)                -                      235,814              -                      531,630               1,817,253             1,618,332             4,781,398             

Transfer for payment of infrastructure debt -                          -                      -                      -                     -                      (531,630)              531,630               -                      -                      

Income (loss) before transfers (to) from

other CSU funds 99,947                 1,083,543             1,326,748             1,250,057           1,347,240             -                      29,786                 1,618,332             6,755,653             

Changes in net position 99,947                 1,083,543             1,326,748             1,250,057           1,347,240             -                      29,786                 1,618,332             6,755,653             

Net position (deficit), beginning of year 592,817               10,293,434           2,278,742             4,526,419           2,377,734             -                      (99,173)                (45,878,084)          (25,908,111)          

Net position (deficit), end of year 692,764$              11,376,977$         3,605,490$           5,776,476$          3,724,974$           -$                        (69,387)$              (44,259,752)$        (19,152,458)$        
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Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

To the Board of Directors 
California State University, Channel Islands Site Authority 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of the business-type activities of California State University, Channel Islands Site Authority 
("Site Authority"), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Site Authority's basic financial statements, and have issued 
our report thereon dated September 18, 2025. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Site Authority's 
internal control over financial reporting ("internal control") as a basis for designing audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Site Authority's 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Site Authority's 
internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Site Authority's financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
 
 
Los Angeles, California 
September 18, 2025 
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September 18, 2025 

The Board of Directors 
California State University Channel Islands 
Financing Authority 

Dear Members of the Board of Directors: 

We have audited the financial statements of California State University Channel Islands Financing 
Authority, a component unit of California State University, Channel Islands, as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2025, and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2025. Professional standards 
require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 

As communicated in our engagement letter dated March 6, 2025, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that 
have been prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of 
the financial statements does not relieve you or management of its respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of the system of internal control 
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the system of 
internal control of Channel Islands Financing Authority, solely for the purpose of determining our audit 
procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control. 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you.  

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit  

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to 
you. 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and our network firms have complied 
with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.  

Significant Risks Identified 

During the normal course of our audit planning and preliminary risk assessment, we have identified the 
following significant risks: management override of controls and improper revenue recognition. We 
addressed these risks through substantive audit procedures. No additional significant risks were identified 
that required specific audit consideration. 
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Qualitative Aspects of the Entity's Significant Accounting Practices 

Significant Accounting Policies 

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by California State University Channel Islands Financing Authority 
is included in Note 2 to the financial statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting 
policies and no changes in significant accounting policies or their application during 2025. No matters 
have come to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) 
the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant 
accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance 
or consensus. 

Significant Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures 

Accounting estimates and related disclosures are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are based on management's current judgments. Those judgments are normally based 
on knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. 
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from 
management's current judgments. 

Financial Statement Disclosures  

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive 
because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting 
California State University Channel Islands Financing Authority's financial statements relate to property 
taxes in Note 2 of the financials, which are neutral, consistent and clear. 

Significant Unusual Transactions 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to communicate to you significant 
unusual transactions identified during our audit. No significant unusual transactions identified as a result 
of our audit procedures were noted. 

Identified or Suspected Fraud  

We have identified or have obtained no information that indicates that fraud may have occurred.  

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the 
audit. 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements  

For purposes of this communication, professional standards also require us to accumulate all known and 
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and 
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us 
to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant 
classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. There 
were no material uncorrected misstatements. 

In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected 
misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. The 
were no material corrected misstatements. 
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Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, which could be significant to California State University Channel Islands Financing Authority's 
financial statements or the auditor's report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor's Report  

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that 
affect the form and content of our auditor's report. There were no circumstances affecting the form and 
content of the audit opinion. 

Representations Requested from Management 

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the attached 
letter dated September 18, 2025. 

Management's Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 

Other Significant Matters, Findings or Issues 

In the normal course of our professional association with California State University Channel Islands 
Financing Authority, we generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting 
principles and auditing standards, significant events or transactions that occurred during the year, 
operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating plans and strategies that may affect the risks of 
material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as California 
State University Channel Islands Financing Authority's auditors. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of those charged with governance, the Audit 
Committee, Board of Directors, others within Financing Authority, and management of California State 
University Channel Islands Financing Authority, and is not intended to be and should not be used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

 
 
 
CohnReznick LLP 
Los Angeles, California 
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Independent Auditor's Report  

The Board of Directors  
The California State University, Channel Islands Financing Authority 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of California State University, Channel Islands Financing 
Authority (the "Financing Authority"), a component unit of California State University, Channel Islands as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the Financing Authority's basic financial statements as listed in the index. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Financing Authority as of June 30, 2025, and the changes in its financial position and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America ("GAAS") and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Financing Authority and to meet our other 
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Financing Authority's ability 
to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.



 

3 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Financing Authority's internal control. Accordingly, no such 
opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Financing Authority's ability to continue as a going concern 
for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis on pages 5 to 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, 
is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Financing Authority's basic financial statements. The accompanying supplementary 
information on pages 17 to 20 is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by an 
Administrative Directive dated June 24, 2003, Financial Reporting Requirements for Auxiliary 
Organizations, from the California State University Office of the Chancellor, and is not a required part of 
the basic financial statements. 

The supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary 
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information  

We have previously audited the Financing Authority's June 30, 2024 financial statements, and we 
expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated 
September 17, 2024. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2024 is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial 
statements from which it has been derived. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 
18, 2025 on our consideration of the Financing Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Financing Authority's internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the Financing Authority's internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

 
 
 
Los Angeles, California 
September 18, 2025 
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This section of the California State University, Channel Islands Financing Authority (the "Financing 
Authority") annual financial report presents our discussion and analysis of the financial performance of 
the Financing Authority for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. This discussion has been prepared by 
management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes. 

Introduction to the Financial Statements 

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements No. 34, Basic Financial Statements - 
and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments, No. 35, Basic Financial 
Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for Public Colleges and Universities, No. 37, 
Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local 
Governments: Omnibus, and No. 38, Certain Financial Statement Note Disclosures. For reporting 
purposes, the Financing Authority is considered a special purpose government engaged only in business 
- type activities, which best represent the activities of the Financing Authority. 

The financial statements include the statement of net position; the statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position; and the statement of cash flows. These statements are supported by the notes 
to the financial statements and this section. All sections must be considered together to obtain a complete 
understanding of the financial picture of the Financing Authority. 

Statement of Net Position  

The statement of net position includes all assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities are reported at their 
book value, on an accrual basis, as of the statement date. It also identifies major categories of restrictions 
on the net position of the Financing Authority. 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents the revenues earned and 
expenses incurred during the year on an accrual basis. 

Statement of Cash Flows 

The statement of cash flows presents the inflows and outflows of cash for the year and is summarized 
by operating, noncapital financing, capital and related financing, and investing activities. The statement 
is prepared using the direct method of cash flows and, therefore, presents gross rather than net amounts 
for the year's activities. 

Analytical Overview 

Summary 

The following discussion highlights management's understanding of the key financial aspects of the 
Financing Authority's financial activities. Included are an analysis of current year activities and balances, 
and a summary of operations. 
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The Financing Authority's summary of net position as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows: 

2025 2024 $ Change % Change

Assets
Current assets  $            41,264  $            21,504 19,760$             91.9%
Other noncurrent assets -                     -                     -                     -                 

Total assets  $            41,264  $            21,504  $            19,760 91.9%

Liabilities
Current liabilities  $            41,264  $            21,504 19,760$             91.9%
Other noncurrent liabilities -                     -                     -                     -                 

Total liabilities  $            41,264  $            21,504  $            19,760 91.9%

Net position
  Net investment in capital assets -$                   -$                   -$                   -                 
  Restricted -                     -                     -                     -                 
  Unrestricted -                     -                     -                     -                 

Total net position -$                   -$                   -$                   -                 

 
Assets 
The current assets represent cash and receivable for special taxes expected to be paid to the 
Financing Authority by the County of Ventura. The increase of $25.8 thousand in accounts receivable  
- property tax is offset by a decrease in cash of $6 thousand compared to the prior year. 

Liabilities 
The current liabilities represent $41.3 thousand payable to the California Stat University Channel 
Islands Site Authority. 

Net position 
Special taxes received from the County of Ventura are transferred to the California State University 
Channel Islands Site Authority. The Financing Authority functions as a pass-through entity and 
therefore has no net position. 
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The Financing Authority's condensed summary of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position 
for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 is as follows: 

2025 2024 $ Change % Change

Operating revenues
Other operating revenues: Special tax 853,726$           836,372$           17,354$             2.1%

Total operating revenues 853,726             836,372             17,354               2.1%

Operating expenses
General, administrative, and other 
operating costs 2,127                 13,969 (11,842) -84.8%
Transfer to California State University, 
Channel Islands Site Authority - 
Special Tax - Communities Facilities 
District 851,599             822,403 29,196 3.6%

Total operating expenses 853,726             836,372             17,354               2.1%

Operating income -                     -                     -                     -                 

Changes in net position -                     -                     -                     -                 

Beginning net position -                     -                     -                     -                 

Ending net position -$                   -$                   -$                   -                 

 
Operating revenues and expenses 
Operating revenues and expenses come from sources that are connected directly to the Financing 
Authority's business function, which is to provide financing for public capital improvements serving 
California State University, Channel Islands. The Financing Authority currently receives special taxes 
from housing originally financed by the Financing Authority. The Financing Authority then transfers 
the income less general, administrative, and other operating costs to California State University 
Channel Islands Site Authority who is paying the debt. 

Operating revenues 
The operating revenues are comprised of special taxes collected by the County of Ventura from 
privately-owned single-family homes and townhomes in University Glen and then reapportioned to 
the Financing Authority. The revenue increased by $17 thousands due to the scheduled increase in 
the special tax assessed and received.  

Operating expenses 
General, administrative and operating costs are comprised of professional fees and assessment fees 
from the County of Ventura.   The remaining funds are then transferred to California State University 
Channel Islands Site Authority.  
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2025 2024

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents -$                  6,075$              
Accounts receivable - property tax 41,264              15,429              

Total current assets 41,264              21,504              

Total assets 41,264$            21,504$            

Current liabilities
Accounts payable -$                  6,075$              
Due to California State University, Channel Islands Site 
Authority 41,264              15,429              

Total current liabilities 41,264              21,504              

Total liabilities 41,264              21,504              

Net position
Unrestricted -                    -                    

Total net position -$                  -$                  

Liabilities and Net Position

Assets
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2025 2024

Operating revenues
Other operating revenues: Special tax 853,726$          836,372$          

Total operating revenues 853,726            836,372            

Operating expenses
General, administrative, and other operating costs 2,127                13,969              
Transfer to California State University, Channel Islands
Site Authority - Special Tax - Community Facilities District 851,599            822,403            

Total operating expenses 853,726            836,372            

Operating income -                    -                    

Changes in net position -                    -                    

Net position, beginning of year -                    -                    

Net position, end of year -$                  -$                  
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2025 2024

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash paid to suppliers (8,202)$             (7,894)$             

Net cash used in operating activities (8,202)               (7,894)               

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Tax receipts 853,726            836,372            
Special taxes (851,599)           (822,403)           

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 2,127                13,969              

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (6,075)               6,075                

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,075                -                    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year -$                  6,075$              

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash 
used in operating activities

Operating income -$                  -$                  
Taxes (2,127)               (13,969)             
Change in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable - property tax (25,835)             3,475                
Accounts payable (6,075)               6,075                
Due to related party 25,835              (3,475)               

Net cash used in operating activities (8,202)$             (7,894)$             
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Note 1 - Organization 

The California State University, Channel Islands Financing Authority (the "Financing Authority") was 
formed on May 10, 2000 under and pursuant to a Joint Powers Authority formed by and between the 
Trustees of the California State University (the "CSU Trustees") and the California State University, 
Channel Islands Site Authority (the "Site Authority"). The Financing Authority's purpose is to provide 
financing for public capital improvements serving the California State University, Channel Islands (the 
"Campus").  

The Financing Authority is authorized to issue revenue bonds to be used to finance and refinance the 
cost of constructing various public improvements on property transferred to the CSU Trustees and 
will be managed by the Site Authority. The West Campus consists of developed space on 42 acres 
of what was formerly the Camarillo State Hospital. This portion of the Campus is centered on 
academic uses and houses the Campus.  

The Financing Authority is an integral part of the Campus, and the financial transactions of the 
Financing Authority are also included in the financial statements of the Campus as a discretely 
presented component unit. 

Note 2 - Summary of significant accounting policies  

Accounting method 
The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.  

Basis of presentation 
The accompanying financial statements of the Financing Authority have been prepared using the 
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles, as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board ("GASB"). Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 

The financial statements include a statement of net position, a statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position, and a statement of cash flows. The Financing Authority is considered a 
special-purpose government. The Financing Authority records revenue primarily from property taxes 
and, accordingly, has chosen to present its financial statements using the reporting model for special-
purpose governments engaged only in business-type activities. This model allows all financial 
information for the Financing Authority to be reported in a single column in each of the financial 
statements. In accordance with the business-type activities reporting model, the Financing Authority 
prepares its statement of cash flows using the direct method. 

Election of applicable FASB statements 
The Financing Authority has elected to follow private-sector standards of accounting and financial 
reporting issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") prior to November 30, 1989, 
unless those standards conflict with or contradict guidance of the GASB. The Financing Authority also 
has the option of following subsequent private-sector guidance subject to the same limitation. The 
Financing Authority has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance.
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Financial reporting entity 
The financial statements include the accounts of the Financing Authority. The Financing Authority is 
a government organization under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America and is also a component unit of the Campus, a public university under the California State 
University system. The Financing Authority has chosen to use the reporting model for special-purpose 
governments engaged only in business type activities. 

Classification of revenues and expenses 
The Financing Authority considers operating revenues and expenses in the statement of revenues, 
expenses and changes in net position to be those revenues and expenses that result from exchange 
and nonexchange transactions or other activities that are connected directly to the Financing 
Authority's primary functions.  

Cash and cash equivalents 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include all highly-liquid debt 
instruments with a maturity of three months or less from date of purchase. The Financing Authority 
maintains its cash and cash equivalents in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally 
insured limits. The Financing Authority has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes 
it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash. As of June 30, 2025, the Financing Authority's 
bank deposits were fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.  

Revenue recognition 
Revenue consists of special taxes which are recognized when the taxes are levied. 

Income taxes 
The Financing Authority was formed pursuant to Articles 1 - 4, Chapter 5, division 7, title 1 of the 
Government Code of the State of California and, as a governmental entity, is not subject to federal or 
state income taxes. 

Property taxes 
All jurisdictions within California derive their taxing authority from the State Constitution and various 
legislative provisions contained in the State Government Codes and Revenue and Taxation Codes. 
Property is originally assessed at 100% of full cash or market value at the date of transfer or 
completion of construction pursuant to Article XIII(A) of the California State Constitution and statutory 
provisions by the County Assessor and State Board of Equalization. 

Pursuant to the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982, the Financing Authority formed 
Community Facilities District No. 2000-1 (the "District") on November 6, 2000 to assist in financing 
the development of the Campus. The District is authorized to incur a maximum of $50,000,000 of 
indebtedness to provide for the cost of certain public facilities and services. The District may levy and 
collect a special tax within the district to repay such indebtedness. The special taxes are payable and 
are collected in the same manner and time as are general and ad valorem taxes on real property. 

Property taxes are levied on both real and personal property. Secured property taxes become a lien 
on the property on January 1 or the date on which title to the property transfers or improvements to 
the property are completed. Secured property taxes are levied July 1 and payable in two equal 
installments the first is generally due on November 1 and delinquent with penalties after December 
10; the second is generally due on February 1 and delinquent with penalties after April 10. Special 
tax revenues are recognized in the period in which they are levied, net of amounts determined to be 
uncollectible. 
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Supplemental property tax assessments/refunds associated with changes in assessed valuations due 
to transfers of title and completed property improvements are levied in two equal installments and 
have variable due dates based on the date of title transfer and/or completion of the property 
improvements. 

Use of estimates 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions. Those estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses, as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. Management also determines the accounting principles to be used 
in the preparation of the financial statements. 

Comparative totals 
The financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total but 
not by net position class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a 
presentation in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with the Financing Authority's 
financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2024 from which the summarized information was 
derived.  

Special taxes 
The Financing Authority transfers special tax receipts (the Mello-Roos property tax receipts) along 
with any interest earned after paying any related fees to the Site Authority. The transferred amount is 
used to pay the Site Authority's lease obligations. 

Fair value measurements 
The Financing Authority reports its fair value measurements using a three-level hierarchy that 
prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value in accordance with GASB 72, Fair Value 
Measurement and Application. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal or most advantageous market at the 
measurement date under current market conditions regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. Inputs used to determine fair value refer 
broadly to the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability including 
assumptions about risk. Inputs may be observable or unobservable. Observable inputs are inputs 
that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on 
market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs are 
inputs that reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions about the assumptions market participants 
would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available. GASB 72 establishes 
a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. 
This hierarchy, established by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, requires that entities 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring 
fair value. 
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The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows: 

Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets to which Financing 
Authority has access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include;  

 quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 

 quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active; 

 observable inputs other than quoted prices for the asset or liability (for example, 
interest rates and yield curves); and 

 inputs derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by 
correlation or by other means. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs should be used to 
measure the fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available. 

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable approximate fair value because of the terms and 
relatively short maturity of these financial instruments. 

The carrying amounts of liabilities approximate fair value because of the relatively short maturity of 
these financial instruments.  

When available, Financing Authority measures fair value using Level 1 inputs because they generally 
provide the most reliable evidence of fair value. 

Note 3 - Due to CSUCI Site Authority 

Pursuant to the terms of the trust agreements with U.S. Bank and The Bank of New York (each, a 
Trustee), the Financing Authority holds the cash from the sale of the Revenue Bonds with the Trustee 
for those Revenue Bonds and the Trustee disburses cash to the Site Authority as expenses are 
incurred. Amount due to the Site Authority at June 30, 2025 was $41,264 and consists of special tax 
receipts yet to transfer, which will be used for upcoming lease payments. 

Note 4 - Related party transactions 

Substantially all of the transactions entered into by the Financing Authority are with the Site Authority. 

Note 5 - Contingencies 

From time to time, the Financing Authority may have claims against it arising from its normal 
operations. Currently, there are no claims or litigation against the Financing Authority. 
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Assets:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents  $                        -   
Short-term investments                            -   
Accounts receivable, net                     41,264 
Lease receivable, current portion                            -   
P3 receivable, current portion                            -   
Notes receivable, current portion                            -   
Pledges receivable, net                            -   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets                            -   

Total current assets                     41,264 
Noncurrent assets:

Restricted cash and cash equivalents                            -   
Accounts receivable, net                            -   
Lease receivable, net of current portion                            -   
P3 receivable, net of current portion                            -   
Notes receivable, net of current portion                            -   
Student loans receivable, net                            -   
Pledges receivable, net                            -   
Endowment investments                            -   
Other long-term investments                            -   
Capital assets, net                            -   
Other assets                            -   

Total noncurrent assets                            -   
Total assets                     41,264 

Deferred outflows of resources:
Unamortized loss on debt refunding                            -   
Net pension liability                            -   
Net OPEB liability                            -   
Leases                            -   
P3                            -   
Others                            -   

Total deferred outflows of resources                            -   
Liabilities:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable                     41,264 
Accrued salaries and benefits                            -   
Accrued compensated absences, current portion                            -   
Unearned revenues                            -   
Lease liabilities, current portion                            -   
SBITA liabilities - current portion                            -   
P3 liabilities - current portion                            -   
Long-term debt obligations, current portion                            -   
Claims liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses, current portion                            -   
Depository accounts                            -   
Other liabilities                            -   

Total current liabilities                     41,264 

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences, net of current portion                            -   
Unearned revenues                            -   
Grants refundable                            -   
Lease liabilities, net of current portion                            -   
SBITA liabilities, net of current portion                            -   
P3 liabilities, net of current portion                            -   
Long-term debt obligations, net of current portion                            -   
Claims liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of current portion                            -   
Depository accounts                            -   
Net other postemployment benefits liability                            -   
Net pension liability                            -   
Other liabilities                            -   

Total noncurrent liabilities                            -   

Total liabilities                     41,264 

Deferred inflows of resources:
P3 service concession arrangements                            -   
Net pension liability                            -   
Net OPEB liability                            -   
Unamortized gain on debt refunding                            -   
Nonexchange transactions                            -   
Lease                            -   
P3                            -   
Others                            -   

Total deferred inflows of resources                            -   

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets                            -   
Restricted for:

Nonexpendable – endowments                            -   
Expendable:

Scholarships and fellowships                            -   
Research                            -   
Loans                            -   
Capital projects                            -   
Debt service                            -   
Others                            -   

Unrestricted                            -   
Total net position  $                        -   
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Revenues:
Operating revenues:

Student tuition and fees, gross  $                        -   
Scholarship allowances (enter as negative)                            -   

Grants and contracts, noncapital:
Federal                            -   
State                            -   
Local                            -   
Nongovernmental                            -   

Sales and services of educational activities                            -   
Sales and services of auxiliary enterprises, gross                            -   

Scholarship allowances (enter as negative)                            -   
Other operating revenues                   853,726 

Total operating revenues                   853,726 
Expenses:

Operating expenses:
Instruction                            -   
Research                            -   
Public service                            -   
Academic support                            -   
Student services                            -   
Institutional support                   853,726 
Operation and maintenance of plant                            -   
Student grants and scholarships                            -   
Auxiliary enterprise expenses                            -   
Depreciation and amortization                            -   

Total operating expenses                   853,726 
Operating income (loss)                            -   

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
State appropriations, noncapital                            -   
Federal financial aid grants, noncapital                            -   
State financial aid grants, noncapital                            -   
Local financial aid grants, noncapital                            -   
Nongovernmental and other financial aid grants, noncapital                            -   
Other federal nonoperating grants, noncapital                            -   
Gifts, noncapital                            -   
Investment income (loss), net                            -   
Endowment income (loss), net                            -   
Interest expense                            -   
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses)                            -   

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses)                            -   
Income (loss)  before other revenues (expenses)                            -   

State appropriations, capital                            -   
Grants and gifts, capital                            -   
Additions (reductions) to permanent endowments                            -   

Increase (decrease) in net position                            -   
Net position:

Net position at beginning of year, as previously reported                            -   
Restatements                            -   

Net position at beginning of year, as restated                            -   
Net position at end of year  $                        -   
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1 Cash and cash equivalents: Not applicable

Portion of restricted cash and cash equivalents related to endowments
 $                                           -   

All other restricted cash and cash equivalents                                              -    

Noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents                                              -    

Current cash and cash equivalents                                   -    
Total  $                                           -   

2.1 Composition of investments: Not applicable

2.2 Fair value hierarchy in investments: Not applicable

2.3

3.1 Capital Assets, excluding ROU assets: Not applicable

3.2 Detail of depreciation and amortization expense: Not applicable 

4 Long-term liabilities: Not applicable

5

6 Future minimum payments schedule - Long-term debt obligations: Not applicable

7 Transactions with related entities: Not applicable

8 Restatements: Not applicable

Investments held by the University under contractual agreements: Not applicable 

Future minimum payments schedule - leases, SBITA, P3: Not applicable
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9 Natural classifications of operating expenses:

 Salaries  Benefits - Other  Benefits - Pension  Benefits - OPEB 
 Scholarships and 

fellowships 
 Supplies and other 

services 
 Depreciation and 

amortization  Total operating expenses 

Instruction  $                                           -    $                                                 -    $                                             -    $                                         -    $                                    -    $                                            -    $                                         -    $                                          -   
Research                                                -                                                       -                                                    -                                               -                                          -                                                   -                                               -                                                -   
Public service                                                -                                                       -                                                    -                                               -                                          -                                                   -                                               -                                                -   
Academic support                                                -                                                       -                                                    -                                               -                                          -                                                   -                                               -                                                -   
Student services                                                -                                                       -                                                    -                                               -                                          -                                                   -                                               -                                                -   
Institutional support                                                -                                                       -                                                    -                                               -                                          -                                       853,726                                             -                                     853,726 
Operation and maintenance of plant                                                -                                                       -                                                    -                                               -                                          -                                                   -                                               -                                                -   
Student grants and scholarships                                                -                                                       -                                                    -                                               -                                          -                                                   -                                               -                                                -   
Auxiliary enterprise expenses                                                -                                                       -                                                    -                                               -                                          -                                                   -                                               -                                                -   
Depreciation and amortization                                                -                                                       -                                               -                                          -                                                   -                                               -                                                -   

Total operating expenses  $                                           -    $                                                 -    $                                             -    $                                         -    $                                    -    $                                 853,726  $                                         -    $                              853,726 
 

10 Deferred outflows/inflows of resources: Not applicable

11 Other nonoperating revenues (expenses): Not applicable  
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Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on  
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

The Board of Directors 
California State University, Channel Islands Financing Authority 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of the business-type activities of California State University, Channel Islands Financing 
Authority (the "Financing Authority"), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes 
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Financing Authority's basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2025. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Financing Authority's 
internal control over financial reporting ("internal control") as a basis for designing audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Financing 
Authority's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Financing Authority's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Financing Authority's financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
 
 
Los Angeles, California 
September 18, 2025 
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